1000H

	IN TH	E SUPREME	COURT OF	FLORIDA	FILED
					SID J MILITE
ROGER WILLIAMS,)		J	JAN 16 1904
Petitioner,)			CLERK, SUPREME COURT
v.		ĺ	CASE 1	NO. 86,476	Chiler Deputy Clerk
STATE OF FLORIDA,)			
Respondent.)			

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

On Appeal from the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For St. Lucie County, Florida (Criminal Division)

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender

ANTHONY CALVELLO
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
The Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

Attorney for Petitioner

ORIGINAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For St. Lucie County, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will denote Record on Appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote transcripts of hearings in the trial court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Roger Williams, was charged by way of an Information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for St. Lucie County with the offense of aggravated stalking of Rolanda Townsend which was alleged to have occurred between October 16, 1993 and December 1, 1993. R 1.

Prior to the instant criminal information being filed against Petitioner in circuit court, Rolanda Townsend filed a motion for contempt on November 10, 1993, based upon a domestic violence injunction protective order issued on October 25, 1993, against Petitioner alleging that Petitioner had called, threatened, and followed her to her residence where he banged on her door on November 5, 1993, and then again on November 6, 1993. R 78.

On November 17, 1993, Rolanda Townsend filed a second motion to find Petitioner in contempt when he drove by her residence between November 13, 1993 and November 16, 1993, thus allegedly creating a fear of stalking in her. R 8.

A third motion for contempt was filed against Petitioner on December 2, 1994, alleging that between November 21 and November 26, 1993, and again on December 1, 1993, Petitioner went to Ms. Townsend's residence, threatened her and cut her telephone and cable television lines. R 8.

On February 24, 1994, a hearing was held on the contempt charges filed against Petitioner by Ms. Townsend. T 6. Petitioner was found guilty of violating the protective order/domestic violence injunction and sentenced to 150 days in the county jail. R 8.

On March 25, 1994, Petitioner filed a sworn motion to dismiss the criminal information filed against him in the circuit court charging

him with the aggravated stalking of Rolanda Townsend between October 16, 1993 and December 1, 1993. R 7-8. Petitioner argued that the double jeopardy clause prohibited this prosecution since he was previously tried, convicted, and sentenced for violating the protective order issued on behalf of Rolanda Townsend for the same conduct which occurred between November 3, November 6, November 13-16, November 21-26, and December 1, 1993. Petitioner further argued that because all of the elements of aggravated stalking as charged in this case (Case No. 93-2778 CF) were included in the former criminal contempt prosecution of February 24, 1994, the State is now barred from prosecuting Petitioner for any conduct toward Rolanda Townsend which has already been punished in the criminal contempt prosecution. R 7-8.

On March 31, 1994, a hearing was held on Petitioner's sworn motion to dismiss. T 1-17. Petitioner testified at the hearing that a protective order and domestic violence injunction was issued against him on October 25, 1993 on behalf of Rolanda Townsend. T 4-6. A number of violations of this protective order and/or injunction were subsequently filed against Petitioner by Rolanda Townsend. T 4-6. A contempt hearing was held on these violations on February 24, 1994. T 6. At said hearing, Petitioner admitted to violating the protective order and/or injunction by having contact with Rolanda Townsend between October 25, 1993 and December 2, 1993. T 6. Specifically, Petitioner admitted that he threatened her, banged on her front door, drove by her residence and cut her telephone and cable television lines. T 5-6. As a result of Petitioner's admissions at the February 24, 1994, contempt hearing, Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to 150 days in the county jail. T 6.

The trial court took judicial notice of the aggravated stalking information filed against Petitioner (Case No. 93-2778) in this cause, which provided:

BETWEEN THE DATES OF OCTOBER 16, 1993 AND DECEMBER 1, 1993 ... [Petitioner] did unlawfully, after an injunction for protection against repeat violence pursuant to Florida Statute 784.046, or an injunction for protection against repeat domestic violence pursuant to Florida Statute 741.30 ... knowingly, willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follow or harass the said Rolanda Townsend ...

R 1.

Petitioner's counsel argued that, in light of Petitioner's February 24, 1994 contempt conviction, the instant prosecution for aggravated stalking was prohibited by the double jeopardy clause. T 7. In addition, for this aggravated stalking prosecution, the prosecution must establish that an injunction had been previously issued against the defendant. T 13. This was the same injunction which formed the basis of Petitioner criminal contempt conviction. The trial court subsequently issued a written order denying Petitioner's motion to dismiss. R 11.

On July 13, 1994, Petitioner pled nolo contendere to the charge of aggravated stalking (Case No. 93-2778 CF) and expressly reserved his right to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss. Petitioner was scored pursuant to the Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701 sentencing guidelines to a permitted guidelines sentence range of one (1) to three and one half (3½) years in prison. R 26. Petitioner was sentenced to three (3) years in prison with credit for one hundred and forty (140) days time served. R 29-30. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal in the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Fourth District in a written opinion <u>Williams v. State</u>, 658 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) [See Appendix] held that "a defendant held in contempt for violating a domestic violence injunction may be prosecuted later for a substantive offense stemming from the same conduct that gave rise to the contempt adjudication." <u>Id</u>.

Timely Notice of Discretionary Review was filed by Petitioner to this Honorable Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner, Roger Lee Williams, was charged and convicted of criminal contempt for violating a domestic violence injunction. Later, Petitioner was convicted of the felony of aggravated stalking by violating the same domestic violence injunction. Petitioner contends that the trial court reversibly erred in denying his pre-trial motion to dismiss the aggravated stalking charge on the basis of the double jeopardy clause. The double jeopardy clause barred the instant prosecution for aggravated stalking where Petitioner had previously been convicted and sentenced for criminal contempt for violating a domestic violence injunction based upon the same conduct.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S SWORN MOTION TO DISMISS BECAUSE THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE BARRED PETITIONER'S SUBSEQUENT PROSECUTION FOR AGGRAVATED STALKING WHERE PETITIONER HAD PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF CRIMINAL CONTEMPT FOR VIOLATING A DOMESTIC VIOLENCE INJUNCTION BASED ON THE SAME CONDUCT.

The double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment provides:

"[N]or shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice
put in jeopardy of life or limb." U.S. Constitution, Amendment V.

"[T]he Double Jeopardy Clause protects against three distinct abuses:
a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; a second
prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and multiple
punishments for the same offense." United State v. Halper, 490 U.S.
435, 440, 109 S.Ct. 1892, 1897, 104 L.Ed.2d 487 (1989); North Carolina
v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S.Ct. 2072 (1968).

The core of the Double Jeopardy Clause is the protection it affords against successive prosecutions -- that is, against efforts to impose punishment for the same offense in two or more separate proceedings. That protection applies with equal force whether the first prosecution results in a conviction or acquittal. See Burks v. United State, 437 U.S. 1, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978); Brown v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161, 97 S.Ct. 2221, 53 L.Ed.2d 187 (1977). Whatever other abuses the Clause prohibits, at its most fundamental level it

¹ The Supreme Court has also indicated that parallel civil and criminal proceedings for the same offense may violate the Double Jeopardy Clause's prohibition against successive punishments for the same offense. See Department of Revenue v. Kurth Ranch, 114 S.Ct. 1937 (1994) (holding that imposition of criminal sanctions followed by the imposition of a civil post-forfeiture tax on illegal drugs is a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause); United States v. Halper, 490 U.S. 435, 440, 109 S.Ct. 1892, 1897 (1989) (holding that civil penalties imposed after criminal punishments can constitute a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause).

protects an accused against being forced to defend himself against repeated attempts to exact one or more punishments for the same offense. "The basis of the Fifth Amendment protection against double jeopardy is that a person shall not be harassed by successive trials; that an accused shall not have to marshal the resources and energies necessary for his defense more than once for the same alleged criminal acts." Abbate v. United States, 359 U.S. 187, 198-99, 79 S.Ct. 666, 672-73, 3 L.Ed.2d 729 (1969) (opinion of Brennan, J.). This Court has held that criminal contempt is a crime. Aaron v. State, 284 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1973). The United States Supreme Court in United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. 2849, 125 L.Ed.2d 556 (1993) expressly held that the protections of the double jeopardy clause apply to criminal contempt prosecutions.

On October 25, 1993, Rolanda Townsend obtained a protective order injunction against Petitioner. T 6-7. Petitioner was prohibited from having any contact with Rolanda Townsend. T 6-7. Said order specifically prohibited Petitioner from having any contact with her at her residence, in addition to engaging in any assault, battery, or violent type of behavior. T 9, 10. On February 24, 1994, Petitioner was charged and convicted of violating this protective order and/or domestic violence injunction issued on October 25, 1993. R 8.

The instant aggravating stalking prosecution alleges that Petitioner, in violation of a domestic violence injunction between the dates of October 16, 1993 and December 1, 1993, did "willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follow or harass the said Rolanda Townsend in violation of Florida Statute 784.048(4)." R 12.

Petitioner contends that the trial court reversibly erred in denying his sworn motion to dismiss on the basis of the double

jeopardy clause. The rule against double jeopardy barred the instant prosecution for aggravated stalking where Petitioner had previously been convicted and sentenced for criminal contempt for violating a domestic violence injunction based upon the same conduct.

To determine whether the double jeopardy clause bars a subsequent prosecution, the U.S. Supreme Court has devised the "same elements test" which inquires whether each offense contains an element not contained in the other; if not, they are the "same offense and double jeopardy bars additional punishment and successive prosecutions." U.S. v. Dixon, 113 S. Ct. at 2856. In U.S. v. Dixon, the court applied the same elements test to bar a prosecution for possession of cocaine with intent to distribute after the defendant had already been found guilty of contempt of court for violating a condition of his bail release by engaging in a criminal act, namely the precise substantive offense with which he had been charged in the criminal information, i.e., possession of cocaine with intent to distribute. Further, the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>U.S. v. Dixon</u>, <u>supra</u>, made clear that the crime of violating a condition of his release could not be "abstracted from the 'element' of the violated condition." Dixon, 509 U.S. at , 113 S. Ct. at 2857.

In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 644 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), the Third District held that the defendant's conviction for violating an injunction against domestic violence barred his subsequent prosecution for aggravated stalking under the double jeopardy clause. The Third District, citing <u>Dixon</u>, <u>supra</u>, held:

In this case, as in <u>Dixon</u>, the substantive charged was subsumed under the language of the injunction. There is no conceivable way in which Dixon could have committed aggravating stalking against the victim without also violating the terms of the injunction, a crime for which he had

already been convicted. In the language of Dixon, aggravated stalking is "a species of lesser-included offense" of the contempt charge, Id., (citations omitted); the rule against double jeopardy thus barred the subsequent prosecution of aggravated stalking. See also Illinois v.Vitale, 447 U.S. 410, 421, 100 S. Ct. 2260, 2267, 65 L.Ed. 2d 228, 238 (1980) (person convicted of crime having several elements included in it may not subsequently be tried for lesser-included offense consisting solely of one or more elements of crime for which he already was convicted).

Id. at 1029 [Emphasis Added].

The Second District in Hernandez v. State, 624 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), held that a conviction for indirect criminal contempt violated the double jeopardy clause because the defendant had already been prosecuted for battery and violation of an injunction of protection, which offenses were the foundation for the contempt. The Hernandez court explained that U.S. v. Dixon "established that the Double Jeopardy Clause prohibits the subsequent prosecution for a substantive offense that underlies a criminal contempt charge for which one has been convicted. It also holds the converse, i.e., subsequent prosecution for criminal contempt, the basis of which is a substantive offense for which a conviction has been obtained, violates the Double Jeopardy Clause." Id. at 783.

In <u>Fierro v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), the defendant was convicted of concealing or removing a minor child contrary to a court order in violation of Section 787.64, F.S. (1993) along with false imprisonment and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. On appeal, the defendant argued that his conviction for concealing or removing a minor child contrary to a court order was <u>barred</u> by the double jeopardy clause because he had previously been convicted of criminal contempt based on his violation of the same court order. The First District agreed with the defendant and reversed his

conviction for concealing or removing a minor child contrary to court orders under the double jeopardy clause. The First District explained:

In the present case, each offense does not include a separate element. While it would be possible to violate the court order by taking the child out of the Second Circuit without written consent, without also violating the statute, which requires removal from the state or concealment, it would not be possible for appellant to violate the statute without also violating the September 17 court order, for which he had already been held in contempt, because the statute requires that the removal be in violation of a court order.

In Hernandez, the contempt based on simple battery "was incorporated into and could not be abstracted from the injunction for protection which was violated." Richardson v. Lewis, 639 So. 2d 1098, 1100 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Similarly, in the present case, the contempt based on violation of the temporary custody order cannot be abstracted from the statutory offense.

<u>Id</u>. at 449.

In this situation in which the contempt conviction was imposed for violating a domestic violence injunction, the later attempt to prosecute Petitioner for aggravated stalking through violation of the <u>same</u> domestic violence order/injunction resembles the situation found in the felony murder context. <u>See U.S. v. Dixon</u>, 113 S.Ct. at 2857.

In <u>Harris v. Oklahoma</u>, 433 U.S. 602, 97 S.Ct. 2912 (1977), the U.S. Supreme Court held that a subsequent prosecution for robbery with a firearm was barred by the double jeopardy clause because the defendant had already been tried for felony murder based on the same underlying felony. For double jeopardy purposes, "the crime generally described as felony murder" is not "a separate offense distinct from

its various elements." <u>Illinois v. Vitale</u>, 447 U.S. 410, 420-421, 100 S.Ct. 2260, 2267 (1980); U.S. v. Dixon, 113 S.Ct. at 2857.²

Therefore, on the authority of <u>Dixon</u>, <u>Johnson</u>, <u>Fierro</u>, and <u>Hernandez</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in ruling that the double jeopardy clause did not bar Petitioner's subsequent conviction for aggravated stalking. Hence, Petitioner's conviction for said offense should be vacated on remand.

The Second District in <u>State v. Miranda</u>, 644 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), clearly misapplied the <u>Dixon</u> decision to arrive at the erroneous conclusion that the double jeopardy clause did not bar the subsequent aggravated stalking charge filed against the defendant there. For some inexplicable reason the <u>Miranda</u> court focused on the elements of the violated condition of injunction unsupported by the <u>Dixon</u> decision. <u>See Fierro</u>, 653 So. 2d at 449.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to reverse this cause with appropriate directions.