IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,476

FILED
SID J. MAHITE
FEB 7 1996

ROGER WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Citlef Deputy Glerk

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. **0239437** Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax No. 377-5655

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, ROGER WILLIAMS, was the Appellant below. The Respondent, the STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Appellee below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of proceedings, and the symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the Petitioner's statement of the case and facts as a substantially accurate account of the proceedings. However, the State makes the following additions thereto as it relates to the charges and findings of contempt.

A temporary injunction for protection against repeat violence was entered against the Petitioner, enjoining him from assaulting, battering, sexually assaulting or otherwise physically abusing the victim and enjoining him from visiting, calling or trespassing on the victim's home. (A 1-2). The Petitioner violated the injunction by visiting the victim at her residence and was so charged. (A. 3-6).

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED STALKING IN VIOLATION OF AN INJUNCTION ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS WHERE THE PETITIONER WAS CONVICTED OF CONTEMPT FOR VIOLATING THE INJUNCTION ON CHARGES CONTAINING DIFFERENT ELEMENTS FROM THE AGGRAVATED STALKING CHARGE.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant charge of aggravated stalking in violation of a injunction is not barred as a successive prosecution under the Double Jeopardy Clause where the Petitioner has been found in contempt of court for violating the injunction for contacting and threatening the victim. This is so because each offense contains different elements. Although both offenses requires knowledge of the injunction, the contempt only required proof of simple contact or a threat. Aggravated stalking, however, requires proof or a specific intent to cause the victim substantial emotional distress. Since the elements are different, both actions can be maintained.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED STALKING IN VIOLATION OF AN INJUNCTION ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS WHERE THE PETITIONER WAS CONVICTED OF CONTEMPT FOR VIOLATING THE INJUNCTION ON CHARGES CONTAINING DIFFERENT ELEMENTS FROM THE AGGRAVATED STALKING CHARGE.

In the instant case Petitioner was found to be in contempt of court for violating an injunction for protection against repeat violence. He was then charged by information with aggravated stalking in violation of the same injunction. Petitioner's motion to dismiss the aggravated stalking charge on double jeopardy grounds was denied. He now contends this was error because the aggravated stalking charge is a lesser included offense of the contempt charge and therefore its prosecution is barred by double jeopardy principles.

The determination of whether the same conduct permits the State to charge and convict on two separate offenses requires a two prong inquiry: (1) Initially, this Court must whether the legislature intended to create two separate offenses, both of which could be punished; and (2) if it did, this Court must next decide whether the second prosecution is barred by the double jeopardy clause. State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989).

As to the first prong, the Florida legislature in Section 775.02 Florida Statutes (1993) has determined that the same conduct can support both a contempt conviction and a substantive crime conviction. Said section provides:

775.021. Rules of construction

- (1) The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.
- (2) The provisions of this chapter are applicable to offenses defined by other statutes, unless the code otherwise provides.
- (3) This section does not affect the power of a court to punish for contempt or to employ any sanction authorized by law for the enforcement of an order or a civil judgment or decree.
- (4)(a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.
- (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:
- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.
- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.

3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

(Emphasis added).

This statute is clear legislative intent that the same conduct can be used to find a defendant guilty of contempt and a substantive criminal charge. Therefore, the substantive criminal charge can be separate criminal conviction as long as it does not violate the second prong, the double jeopardy principles of <u>Blockburger v. United</u> States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932).

In <u>United States v. Dixon</u>, 509 U.S. __, 113 S.Ct. 2849, 125 L.Ed. 2d 556 (1993), the United State's Supreme Court held that the Double Jeopardy Clause's protection attaches in non-summary criminal contempt prosecutions just as it does in other criminal prosecutions. In the contexts of both multiple punishments and successive prosecutions, the double jeopardy bar applies if two offenses for which the defendant is punished or tried cannot survive the same elements test of <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, <u>supra</u>. The same elements test inquires whether each offense contains an element not contained in the other. If they do not then they are the same offense and double jeopardy bars additional punishment or successive prosecution.

Application of the <u>Blockburger</u> test is not straightforward in situations where a defendant is held in contempt of court for violating a court order enjoining the defendant from engaging in certain conduct and is later prosecuted for a substantive offense stemming from the same conduct that gave rise to the contempt order. Three of the Justices in <u>Dixon</u> would have applied <u>Blockburger</u> by comparing the elements

of the offense of contempt of court to the statutory elements of the substantive offense charged. Dixon, 509 U.S. at __, 113 S. Ct. at 2865, 125 L. Ed. 2d at 579. (Rehnquist, C.J. concurring in part and dissenting in part, joined by O'Conner and Thomas, J.J). Two of the Justices would have looked not only to the generic elements of contempt but also to the terms of the court order involved, i.e., the facts needed to show a violation of a specific court order. Dixon, 509 U.S. at __, 113 S. Ct. at 2856-59, 125 L. Ed. 2d at 568-72 (Scalia, J. joined by Kennedy, J.).

This Court has not yet ruled on which of the two foregoing standards applies in Florida. However, the majority of the District Courts that were faced with this question have adopted the approach expressed by Justice Scalia.

In McGee v. State, 435 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) the defendant, while waiting to be arraigned, jumped up, ran across the courtroom, knocked over the speaker's podium, bumped into one of the assistant public defenders, and ran down the hallway outside the courtroom. The defendant was pursued by bailiffs and was intercepted by another officer in front of the elevator, where a struggle ensued until defendant was finally subdued and returned to the courtroom. Upon return to the courtroom, the defendant was held in contempt of court for disrupting the court proceedings.

The defendant was subsequently charged with escape which he moved to dismiss on double jeopardy grounds. The District Court affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion finding that under <u>Blockburger</u> the elements of the offense of contempt in this case was the disruption of the courtroom by knocking over the podium and

bumping into an assistant public defender. Since the District Court found an essential element of contempt to contain a factual underpinning which differed from the escape, double jeopardy did not bar the subsequent prosecution for escape.

In State v. Miranda, 644 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994) the Court when faced with the exact same situation as herein, found no double jeopardy problem since the Second District looked at what was charged to determine the elements of the offense. In Miranda, the Second District held that a defendant can be prosecuted for both criminal contempt for violating an injunction and aggravated stalking in violation of the injunction since the two prosecutions survives the same elements test of Blockburger. In Miranda, a domestic violence injunction was entered against defendant which enjoined him physically abusing, threatening, or harassing the victim, either directly or indirectly, at any time or place and enjoined him from entering on or about the victim's place of employment. The defendant pled guilty to criminal contempt for violating above provisions of the injunction. The State also filed an information against defendant charging him with aggravated stalking in violation of the same domestic violence injunction and the same conduct that the criminal contempt conviction was based on. The trial court granted the motion to dismiss based on double jeopardy, but the Second District reversed.

In reversing the granting of the motion to dismiss, the Court relied on the <u>Blockburger</u> test, examining the elements of both the criminal contempt charge and the aggravated stalking charge to see if each requires proof of an element that the other does not. It found the aggravated stalking charge and the contempt charge required

proof that an injunction for protection had been issued. However, the Court did not compare the entire injunction to the aggravated stalking charge, but only compared the elements of the violated conditions of the injunction to the remaining elements of aggravated stalking. The Court found that aggravated stalking requires proof that a person "knowingly, willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses another person"; that "harasses" means "to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose"; that "course of conduct" includes the requirement that there be a "series of act over a period of time". The Court found that no such requirements were contained in the elements of the <u>violated</u> conditions of the injunction. (Emphasis added). The condition that the defendant not "harass the Petitioner either directly or indirectly, at any time or place whatsoever", may be violated by a single act of harassment as defined by its plain meaning since no statutory definition was provided. The Court then held:

... Thus, the aggravated stalking charge includes elements not included in the contempt charge. The fact that evidence of repeated phone calls may constitute the proof to be adduced at both the contempt trial and the aggravated stalking trial does not render these charges the same offense. The focus in doing a <u>Blockburger</u> analysis is on the statutory elements of the offenses and not on the accusatory pleadings or proof to be adduced at trial in a particular case.

ld. at 345. The Court then found that the contempt charge also required proof of violation of the condition that defendant "not enter or about Petitioner's place of employment" and that this was not necessary to prove the aggravated stalking charge.

Therefore, the contempt charge also included an element not included in the aggravated stalking charge.

The Fifth District's decision in McCray v. State, 640 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) also supports the State's position. In McCray, the defendant claimed that it was error to deny his motion to dismiss charges based on double jeopardy grounds. He claimed that he was prosecuted for the same offense twice; first in a contempt proceeding, and second, for the underlying offense for which he had been previously held in contempt. The Fifth District had to remand the case because it did not have a sufficient record to determine the issue:

... We do not have before us the order below which found McCray guilty of criminal contempt, or findings as to which acts he committed violated the court's earlier protection order. Thus it is impossible for us to make a proper Blockburger comparison of the criminal contempt offense with the May 22 offenses. (Footnote omitted).

<u>ld.</u> at 1218.

In Richardson v. Lewis, 639 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994) an injunction for protection prohibiting the defendant from, among other things, committing battery on or entering the residential premises of former girlfriend. He was charged with criminal contempt for violating the injunction by entering the home and attacking the former girlfriend. As a result of this conduct, defendant was charged with armed burglary and aggravated battery. After being convicted of criminal trespass and aggravate battery he moved to dismiss the contempt charge a double jeopardy grounds, which was denied by the trial court. The Second District affirmed because

it found conduct charged in the criminal contempt contained different elements than the substantive offenses.

In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 644 So. 2d 1078 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), the Third District affirmed an order dismissing on double jeopardy grounds, the charge of aggravated stalking. This affirmance was based on the reasoning that aggravated stalking in violation of an injunction is a species of a lesser included offense of the contempt charge. This finding was based on the premise that there was no conceivable way in which defendant could have committed aggravated stalking against the victim without also violating the terms of the domestic violence injunction, a crime for which defendant had previously been convicted. The Court reached this conclusion by looking at the contents of the entire injunction and not the contents of the actual charging documents. This holding is erroneous since it totally failed to focus on the elements of contempt.

The State submits that the First, Second, and Fifth District Court's have correctly concluded that the elements of contempt for double jeopardy purposes are knowledge of an order, the willful violation of the order and the factual violation thereunder. This is the correct holding because it upholds the State's ability and interest in punishing crime. Said holding also upholds the practical utility of domestic violence injunctions which is to advance protection and prevention of physical, and mental abuse arising from domestic situations. To preclude subsequent prosecution for crimes after a finding of contempt based on the same act would encourage abusive persons to continue violent criminal actions against their domestic partners or children

without risking any penalty more severe that the maximum of six months for contempt. In the alternative, the State in order to insure proper punishment for criminal conduct, would force the victims of domestic violence to forgo the protection of domestic violence injunctions. See <u>Commonwealth v. Allen</u>, 468 A.2d 363 (Pa. 1984).

An application of the foregoing rule of construction to the instant case establishes that the aggravated stalking charge is not a lesser included offense of the contempt charge. Therefore, the denial of the dismissal on double jeopardy grounds was not error.

The criminal contempt charge arose out of the simple entering of the victim's residence and threatening her, required only proof of the foregoing facts and proof of a knowing and willful violation of the court ordered injunction. Richardson v. Lewis, supra. The aggravated stalking charge not only requires proof of a knowing and willful violation of the court ordered injunction but also requires proof that the acts in violation of the court order be willful, malicious and repeated with the intent to cause substantial emotional distress to a reasonable person in the victim's position and which serves no legitimate purpose. Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). Therefore, under Section 775.021(4)(a), the aggravated stalking charge was not subsumed under the language of the injunction and therefore was not a species of a lesser included offense of the contempt charge.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondent requests that this Court approve of the decision below.